FILED

MAR 24, 2014

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

NO. 31892-3-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ALFONSO CERDA SALAZAR,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The exclusion of evidence that related directly to Alfonso Cerda's defense denied his constitutional right to present a defense.¹
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion by excluding photographs that Mr. Cerda's expert relied upon in determining that the injury did not derive from a bite.
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion by denying Mr. Cerda's motion for a mistrial when the prosecution witness testified in violation of a motion in limine.
- 4. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence that contravened its motion in limine prohibiting the prosecution's witnesses from using the term "thousand-yard stare."
- 5. The trial court violated Mr. Cerda's constitutional right to a public trial when it conducted peremptory strikes on paper.
- 6. The trial court violated the public's right to open proceedings when it conducted peremptory strikes on paper.

¹ While the case caption reflects two surnames, Alfonso Cerda Salazar, Mr. Cerda uses only the Cerda surname. 1 RP 3. The two consecutively-paginated volumes from trial are referred to as "1 RP" and "2 RP." The verbatim report of voir dire and opening statements is referred to as "Voir Dire RP" and the other two volumes are referred to by the first date transcribed, "5/1/13 RP" and "7/8/13 RP" (for the volume titled "various hearings").

- 7. The court's instruction misstated the definition of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and diluted the State's burden of proof.
 - 8. Cumulative error denied Mr. Cerda a fair trial.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The federal and state constitutions guarantee an accused the right to present a defense and to a fair trial. Moreover, under the rules of evidence, relevant evidence is presumptively admissible and an expert may present evidence from a learned treatise. Did the trial court prejudice Mr. Cerda's rights and abuse its discretion by excluding evidence from treatises upon which the defense expert relied to determine the alleged injury was not a bite mark?
- 2. In a pretrial ruling, the trial court barred testimony from a third-party witness attributing emotions to Mr. Cerda and from stating that Mr. Cerda delivered "a thousand-yard stare." Nonetheless, a State's witness testified to Mr. Cerda's emotional state and that he delivered a thousand-yard stare. Mr. Cerda objected and moved for a mistrial, but the court allowed the testimony and denied the motion. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Cerda's motion for a mistrial and allowing the jury to consider the evidence?

- 3. The federal and state constitutions guarantee the public and an accused the right to open and public trials. Accordingly, criminal proceedings, including jury selection, may be closed to the public only when the trial court performs an on-the-record weighing test, as outlined in *State v. Bone-Club*² and finds closure favored. Violation of the right to a public trial is presumptively prejudicial. Where peremptory challenges were conducted in written form, removed from public scrutiny, without considering the *Bone-Club* factors, was Mr. Cerda's and the public's right to an open trial violated, requiring reversal?
- 4. The jury must decide whether the prosecution met its burden of proof; its duty is not to search for the truth. The court instructed the jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an "abiding belief in the truth of the charge." Did the court misstate and dilute the burden of proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on whether it believed the charge was true?
- 5. Multiple errors may combine to deprive an accused person of a fundamentally fair trial, in violation of the due process clauses of the Washington and federal constitutions, even if no single error requires

² 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

reversal standing alone. In light of the cumulative effect of the errors assigned above, was Mr. Cerda denied a fundamentally fair trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alfonso Cerda worked on the day he was scheduled for court, so a warrant was issued. Voir Dire RP 471-73; 1 RP 78. While he and his wife were passengers in a vehicle driven by their son, Officer Westby pulled the vehicle over in Quincy, Washington. 1 RP 81-82; 2 RP 253-54, 277. Officer Westby approached the passenger side front door and told Mr. Cerda he was being arrested on the outstanding warrant. 1 RP 83. Mr. Cerda told Officer Westby he was on his way to the court in Ephrata and asked to be allowed to continue that way. 1 RP 110-12; 2 RP 255-57, 260, 276. Officer Westby did not let Mr. Cerda and his family proceed. 1 RP 116 (officer had discretion to let Cerda continue to Ephrata but did not).

Mr. Cerda did not willingly leave his son's vehicle or his wife's company. 1 RP 83-84; 2 RP 287-88. The window was raised and the door locked, but Officer Westby eventually opened the door, forcefully removed Mr. Cerda by pulling Mr. Cerda out through the passenger door Officer Westby had opened. Then Officer Westby firmly kneed Mr. Cerda in the stomach and twice punched Mr. Cerda in the head. 1

RP 83-85, 88-92, 116-17. When Officer Westby pulled Mr. Cerda out of the vehicle, the two tussled over into a ditch on the side of the road. 1 RP 93-94, 119; 2 RP 281. Officer Westby held Mr. Cerda to the ground and handcuffed him with the assistance of Sergeant Snyder, who arrived on the scene after Mr. Cerda was removed from his car. 1 RP 94-95; 2 RP 205-07, 281.³

Officer Westby claimed he was bitten on the arm by Mr. Cerda while Officer Westby was forcibly removing him from his car—after Officer Westby kneed Mr. Cerda but before punching him twice in the head. 1 RP 91; 2 RP 234. Officer Westby sought medical care and then returned to the precinct where Sergeant Snyder photographed the apparent injury. 1 RP 106-08, 110; 2 RP 211-12; Exhibits 13-16. The photographs show what looks to be a single puncture wound on Officer Westby's right upper arm. *See* Exhibits 13-16.

The State charged Mr. Cerda with resisting arrest and assault in the third degree. CP 1-2 (charging under RCW 9A.36.031(1)(g) and RCW 9A.76.040). Mr. Cerda asserted that the injury Officer Westby received was not from a bite, but perhaps from contact with brush,

³ Exhibit 19 contains relevant portions of the video from Officer Westby's dashboard camera, which captured some of the interaction. 1 RP 96-99; 2 RP 226-29, 355-56.

debris or the ground when Officer Westby wrestled Mr. Cerda into the ditch. *E.g.*, 5/1/13 RP 8, 11-12; 1 RP 119-20. Mr. Cerda presented an expert forensic pathologist with experience studying human bite marks on human skin, Dr. Carl Wigren. 2 RP 137, 145-48. Dr. Wigren testified that the photographs of Officer Westby's injury are inconsistent with a human bite. 2 RP 141-42, 148-49, 166-69. As discussed further below, Dr. Wigren was prevented from showing the jury photographs of typical bite marks. *E.g.*, 1 RP 19-27; 2 RP 171-82; Exhibits 1-4. Instead, the court allowed him to render a simplistic drawing of a bite mark. Exhibit 18.

Meanwhile, during the State's case-in-chief, Officer Westby violated a pretrial motion in limine ruling but a mistrial was denied. *E.g.*, CP 9-10; 1 RP 49-52. Mr. Cerda was convicted, and now appeals. CP 29-47.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court denied Mr. Cerda's right to present a defense and abused its discretion by excluding evidence relied on by the defense expert.
 - a. A trial court's discretion to admit or exclude evidence cannot override the accused's right to present a defense.

"Evidence tending to establish a party's theory, or to qualify or disprove the testimony of an adversary, is always relevant and

admissible." State v. Harris, 97 Wn. App. 865, 872, 989 P.2d 553 (1999) (emphasis added). The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments separately and jointly guarantee an accused person the right to a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006); Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 1110, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). Article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution provides a similar guarantee. State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924-25, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (reversing conviction where defendant was precluded from presenting testimony of defense witness).

These provisions require that an accused receive the opportunity to present his version of the facts to the jury. Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95, 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). "[A]t a minimum . . . criminal defendants have . . . the right to put before the jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt." Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S. Ct. 989, 94 L. Ed. 2d 40 (1987) (emphasis added); accord Washington, 388 U.S. at 19.

Although the trial court generally has discretion to determine whether evidence is admissible, an accused's inability to present relevant evidence implicates the fundamental fairness of the proceedings and the error must be analyzed as a due process violation. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720; *Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d at 924.

b. Contrary to the trial court's ruling, the photographs of typical bite marks were admissible and critical to Mr. Cerda's defense that the injury did not derive from a bite.

Mr. Cerda sought to introduce through Dr. Wigren photographs of typical human bite marks on human skin. *See* Exhibits 1-4; 1 RP 19-27; 2 RP 171-82. The photographs derived from learned treatises, which Dr. Wigren testified is a typical resource for disseminating, researching and acquiring information in forensic pathology. Exhibits 1-4; 1 RP 19; 2 RP 171, 174. As Dr. Wigren testified, he consulted the four excerpted photographs in forming his opinion in this case. 2 RP 172; *see* 2 RP 174 (common in field to consult such resources). The evidence was not only relevant but central to Mr. Cerda's defense that the wound on Officer Westby's arm was not a bite mark but a puncture wound or other injury obtained while tussling with Mr. Cerda in the ditch or on the roadside.

Mr. Cerda even asked for the exhibits to be used simply as illustrative evidence, even just one or two of the four proposed photographs. 1 RP 19, 22; 2 RP 177, 179-80. As the court initially acknowledged, such photographs from learned treatises are typically admitted to illustrate an expert's testimony. 1 RP 19-20. However, the court ultimately excluded the evidence, even as illustrative. The State objected to the evidence as hearsay and lacking authentication. 2 RP 177. The court found "I can't see how these pictures would be more helpful than just [Dr. Wigren] drawing patterns or basic structures of what would be a bite mark." 1 RP 24-25; accord 2 RP 181. He further ruled the exhibits were barred for substantive purposes as hearsay and on lack of foundation. 2 RP 177-82.

Evidence Rule 803(a)(18) makes plain that learned treatises relied upon by an expert witness on direct examination are not excluded by the general rule barring hearsay. Dr. Wigren recognized the treatises as authoritative in his field; he should have been entitled to show them to the jury. See State v. Rangitsch, 40 Wn. App. 771, 780, 700 P.2d 382 (1985); *Cameron v. Benefit Ass'n. of Ry. Employees, 6

⁴ "A witness permitted by the court to testify as an expert may rely on statements contained in treatises, periodicals, and pamphlets. These statements are not excluded by the hearsay rule, and they may be read into evidence

Wn.2d 440, 443, 444, 107 P.2d 1096 (1940). Accordingly, the court erred in excluding the evidence on that basis.

The court also ruled that Mr. Cerda presented insufficient foundation. However, it is unclear what more should have been done to support the exhibits. Dr. Wigren testified he relied on the excerpted treatises in forming his opinion and that it is a common practice in his field to rely on these treatises.

Finally, the court's ruling that the exhibits could not be admitted even for illustrative purposes was also erroneous. The State admitted four photographs of Officer Westby's injury. Exhibits 13-16. Dr. Wigren's photographs provided a direct point of comparison (and in his expert opinion, contrast) to the State's evidence. *Compare* Exhibits 1-4 *with* Exhibits 13-16. The drawing of typical bite marks, which the court allowed Dr. Wigren to make in lieu of the photographs, was simplistic and incongruent to the State's evidence. *Compare* Exhibit 18 *with* Exhibits 1-4, 13-16. The photographs were "clearer and more accurate depiction[s]" of Dr. Wigren's testimony than the cartoon-like drawing at Exhibit 18. *State v. Stevens*, 58 Wn. App. 478, 493, 794 P.2d 38 (1990); *see State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 870, 822 P.2d 177

provided the expert has testified to their reliable authority." *Rangtisch*, 40 Wn. App. at 780.

(1991) (discussing probative value of photographs). "Even where a witness has described an injury, photographs have evidentiary value in making the description more intelligible." Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co., 120 Wn.2d 246, 284, 840 P.2d 860 (1992). "Much that sounds cold coming from a witness may be better conveyed by a photograph." Id. (quoting Parson v. Chicago, 117 Ill. App. 3d 383, 390, 453 N.E.2d 770 (1983)); cf. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 708, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) (discussing power of images). Just as the photographs assisted the expert in making his findings, they would have assisted the jury in analyzing Dr. Wigren's testimony. Id.

This evidence was central to Mr. Cerda's defense that Officer's Westby injury was not from a bite. The trial judge impeded Mr. Cerda's constitutional right to present a defense by determining the manner in which Mr. Cerda could present that defense.

c. The error requires reversal.

Due process demands an accused be permitted to present evidence that is relevant and of consequence to his theory of the case.

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720; Maupin, 128 Wn.2d at 924. Because the court's exclusion of relevant evidence denied Mr. Cerda's Sixth

Amendment right to present a defense, the error requires reversal unless

the State can prove beyond a reasonable doubt that it "did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967); *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999).

The State cannot meet its burden in this case. The photographs of Officer Westby's injury do not resemble the bite marks in the excluded exhibits. *Compare* Exhibits 13-16 *with* Exhibit 1-4. The excluded photographs support Dr. Wigren's expert conclusion that Officer Westby's injury is consistent with a blunt object force injury, where an object came perpendicular to the skin to create an abrasion, but not a bite mark. 2 RP 166-67. The drawing that the court found more appropriate did not have the same persuasive value. *See* Exhibit 18. In fact, it might have served to discredit Dr. Wigren's expertise in its simplicity. *See id.* The excluded evidence directly supported Mr. Cerda's defense and was not cumulative. The State cannot show the excluded evidence would not have had an effect on the jury.

In *Maupin*, our Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction where the trial court erroneously excluded evidence of a witness who saw the victim with someone other than the defendant on the day of the alleged crime. 128 Wn.2d at 928, 930. Though the excluded evidence

would not have necessarily resulted in an acquittal, it "casts substantial doubt on the State's version of the crime." *Id.* at 930. Thus it was "impossible to conclude a reasonable jury would have reached the same result beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.*

To reverse the conviction, this Court need not find that Mr. Cerda's version of events is "airtight." *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 724. A reasonable jury reviewing the excluded evidence may have reached a different result. *See id*. Accordingly, the error was not harmless and requires reversal of Mr. Cerda's convictions with remand for a new trial. *Id*.; *Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d at 924.

2. The trial court abused its discretion by denying a mistrial and allowing the jury to consider evidence it had ruled inadmissible.

The trial court also abused its discretion when it denied Mr.

Cerda's motion for a mistrial after a State's witness testified as to Mr.

Cerda's emotional state and delivery of a "thousand-yard stare."

Officer Westby explained during pretrial motions, "basically a thousand-yard stare is when someone is looking at you, but they're not looking directly at you, they're pretty much looking through you, you can tell, you can see the anger on their face, you can see the resistiveness. . . . In this case, I saw his eyes, and his eyes were – and

13

his eyes were angry and they were looking through me." 1 RP 46-47. Officer Westby compared the look to that his jujitsu instructor gave when "he kind of snapped into a zone when he'd get really heated in the match and you could see his eyes would intensify and they basically looked right through you." 1 RP 48-49. Mr. Cerda was particularly opposed to Officer Westby putting his own labels on something as subjective as Mr. Cerda's emotions. 1 RP 45-46 ("No question the officer can testify about what he saw and what he heard. He just can't put a label on it."), 47 ("[H]e can't label it and he can't tell the jury what he believes is going on in Mr. Cerda's mind.").

Upon Mr. Cerda's pretrial motion, the court ruled that Officer Westby could not claim to know Mr. Cerda's emotional state and could not use the term "thousand-yard stare." CP 9-10 (motion in limine); 1 RP 44-52. The court explained its ruling as follows,

The witness can testify what he sees about the eyes looking at him and being scrunched up. The fact that I could tell he was angry because [...] shouldn't be something that he should testify to. That's for the jury to decide. He can describe what he saw from his own senses. His opinion about what the defendant is thinking is something that doesn't seem appropriate. There seems to be some interpretation going on too. He can describe what he saw. We'll allow him to do that....

He should not - this witness should not testify that the witness [Cerda] was angry. Rather that he

appeared angry. And here's why. And he can describe the eyes and the stare. We don't need to hear about martial arts or his dojo or instructor or master and what he looked like and comparing it to that. You can describe what he saw and that he appeared angry for those reasons. He shouldn't testify [that Cerda] was angry. . . .

And he does have to articulate why that – why he looked angry. But he can't testify that he was angry.

And there's also the notion here that the appearance might be independently relevant for the jury to know what took place and why certain things happened. Even if the appearance was – the conclusion of the appearance was misperceived. The word thousand-yard stare, I think we shouldn't use that, just because it's not helpful to the jury. We're not sure what that meant. When I asked what it meant, first it was that he was looking past him, but later it was that he was angry. And, as I said, those are two different things. So he can just describe with more detail.

1 RP 49-52.

Despite the pretrial order, Officer Westby testified Mr. Cerda "became upset," "[h]e was again very upset," and "[h]e gave me what you'd call a thousand-yard stare." 1 RP 83, 85. Mr. Cerda objected, and the court allowed the officer to explain what he meant by "a thousand-yard stare," over a second defense objection, before overruling the objections. 1 RP 85-86. In subsequent argument outside the presence of the jury, Mr. Cerda argued the testimony was a direct violation of the pretrial ruling. 1 RP 87. The court disagreed that the

testimony violated the pretrial ruling and denied Mr. Cerda's motion for a mistrial. 1 RP 86-88.

Courts evaluate three factors to determine whether an error warrants a new trial: (1) the seriousness of the error, (2) whether the improper statement was cumulative of evidence properly admitted, and (3) whether the error could be cured by an instruction. *State v. Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808, 856, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). This Court reviews the denial of a motion for mistrial for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 858.

The irregularity here was serious. Though Officer Westby sat through the court's pretrial ruling, he testified directly in contradiction to it. As the court stated in its ruling, it is for the jury not Officer Westby to decide whether Mr. Cerda was upset, angry, or resistant. Officer Westby could testify only to his own perceptions. Further, Mr. Cerda raised the matter in advance of trial and the court expressed a final ruling upon which Mr. Cerda was entitled to rely. But this predictability was shattered when Officer Westby testified in violation of the ruling and the court allowed the testimony. *State v. Koloske*, 100 Wn.2d 889, 895, 676 P.2d 456 (1984), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown*, 111 Wn.2d 124, 761 P.2d 588 (1988).

Additionally, the testimony was not cumulative—Officer Westby was the only officer on scene for most of the interaction with Mr. Cerda. Sergeant Snyder arrived on the scene after Mr. Cerda had been removed from the vehicle and testified only to his assistance in handcuffing Mr. Cerda and his observation and photography of Officer Westby's injuries. 2 RP 205-06, 211-12.

Finally, a limiting instruction would have served no purpose here, where the trial court admitted the testimony as substantive evidence despite its pretrial ruling and over Mr. Cerda's objections.

The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Cerda's motion for a mistrial. This court should reverse and remand.

3. Mr. Cerda and the public's rights to a public trial were violated by the non-public process employed for peremptory challenges.

This Court reviews violations of the public trial right de novo. State v. Jones, 175 Wn. App. 87, 95, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013). "A defendant does not waive his public trial right by failing to object to a closure during trial." *Id*.

a. <u>Jury selection in a criminal trial must be presumptively open to comply with the constitutional right to a public trial.</u>

The Washington Constitution mandates that criminal proceedings be open to the public without exception. Article I, section

10 requires that "Justice in all cases shall be administered openly." Article I, section 22 provides that "In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to . . . a speedy public trial." These provisions serve "complementary and interdependent functions in assuring the fairness of our judicial system." *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). The federal constitution also guarantees the accused the right to a public trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI ("In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial").

The public trial guarantee ensures "that the public may see [the accused] is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions." *Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 259 (quoting *In re Oliver*, 333 U.S. 257, 270 n.25, 68 S. Ct. 499, 92 L. Ed. 682 (1948)). "Be it through members of the media, victims, the family or friends of a party, or passersby, the public can keep watch over the administration of justice when the courtroom is open." *State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 5, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). "Openness thus enhances both the basic fairness of the criminal trial and the appearance of fairness so essential to public

confidence in the system." Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 464 U.S. 501, 508, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984) (Press-Enterprise I). Open public access provides a check on the judicial process that is necessary for a healthy democracy and promotes public understanding of the legal system. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 142 n.3, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) (Stephens, J. concurring); Allied Daily Newspapers v. Eikenberry, 121 Wn.2d 205, 211, 848 P.2d 1258 (1993); Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596, 606, 102 S. Ct. 2613, 73 L. Ed. 2d 248 (1982). Openness deters perjury and other misconduct; it tempers biases and undue partiality. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 5. In particular, "a closed jury selection process harms the defendant by preventing his or her family from contributing their knowledge or insight to jury selection and by preventing the venire from seeing the interested individuals." State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515, 122 P.3d 150 (2005) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 812, 100 P.3d 291 (2004)); accord Const. art. I, § 35 (victims of crimes have right to attend trial and other court proceedings).

To protect this constitutional right to a public trial, Washington courts have repeatedly held that a trial court may not conduct secret or closed proceedings "without, first, applying and weighing five

requirements as set forth in *Bone-Club* and, second, entering specific findings justifying the closure order." *State v. Easterling*, 157 Wn.2d 167, 175, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). The presumption of openness may be overcome only by a finding that closure is necessary to "preserve higher values" and the closure must be narrowly tailored to serve that interest. *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984) (quoting *Press-Enterprise I*, 464 U.S. at 510).

b. The public was improperly excluded from the peremptory challenge process because it was held on paper without considering the *Bone-Club* factors.

The right to a public trial includes the right to have public access to jury selection. *E.g.*, *Presley v. Georgia*, 558 U.S. 209, 213, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 71-72; *Wise*, 176 Wn.2d at 11-12; *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); *State v. Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 226-27, 217 P.3d 310 (2009); *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 804.⁵ "The process of juror selection is

⁵ Accordingly, the Court need not apply the experience and logic test to determine whether the proceeding is subject to the open trial right. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 73 (lead opinion); *id.* at 136 (Stephens, J. concurring); *see State v. Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. 328, 298 P.3d 148 (2013) (distinguishing voir dire, to which open trial right conclusively applies, to pre-voir dire release of prospective jurors by clerk for illness, a stage to which experience and logic test must be applied).

itself a matter of importance, not simply to the adversaries but to the criminal justice system." *Press-Enterprise I*, 464 U.S. at 505.

Peremptory and for-cause challenges are an integral part of voir dire. *E.g.*, *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 98, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986) (peremptory challenge occupies important position in trial procedures); *Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. at 342 (noting peremptory and for cause challenges are part of voir dire); *New York v. Torres*, 97 A.D.3d 1125, 1126-27, 948 N.Y.S.2d 488 (2012) (closure of courtroom to defendant's wife while initial jury selection held, including exercise of 16 peremptory challenges, is erroneous). Indeed, "it is the interplay of challenges for cause and peremptory challenges that assures the fair and impartial jury." *State v. Vreen*, 99 Wn. App. 662, 668, 994 P.2d 905 (2000), *aff'd*, 143 Wn.2d 923 (2001).

There are important limits on both parties' exercise of peremptory challenges that must be enforced in open court, subject to public scrutiny. *E.g.*, *Georgia v. McCollum*, 505 U.S. 42, 49, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992) (discussing protection from racial discrimination in jury selection, including in exercise of peremptory challenge, and critical role of public scrutiny). Like the questioning of prospective jurors, such challenges to the venire must be held in open

proceedings absent an on-the-record consideration of the public trial right, competing interests, alternatives to closing the proceeding and the other *Bone-Club* considerations. *See Jones*, 175 Wn. App. at 98-99 (citing Laws of 1917, ch. 37, § 1 and former RCW 10.49.070 (1950), repealed by Laws of 1984, ch. 76, § 30 (6) as requiring peremptory challenges to be held in open court); *cf. State v. Saintcalle*, 178 Wn.2d 34, 41-42, 309 P.3d 326 (2013) (discussing important public interest in proper exercise of juror challenges: "Racial discrimination in the qualification or selection of jurors offends the dignity of persons and the integrity of the courts, and permitting such exclusion in an official forum compounds the racial insult inherent in judging a citizen by the color of his or her skin."); *id.* at 44 ("peremptory challenges have become a cloak for race discrimination").

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