FILED

APR 11, 2014

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 31892-3-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent

v.

Alfonso Cerda Salazar, Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GRANT COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE P.O. BOX 37 Ephrata, WA 98823-0037 (509) 754-2011

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

III.ARGUMENT

A. <u>The court properly denied Mr. Cerda's motion to admit photographs</u> because they were not helpful to the trier of fact.

Although a defendant has a constitutional right to present a defense, the evidence used for this purpose is still governed (and limited) by the rules of evidence. *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924–25, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (citing *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)). A "defendant's right to present a defense also has limits. The defendant's right is subject to reasonable restrictions and must yield to 'established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence.'" *State v. Donald*, 178 Wn. App. 250, 264, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013) (quoting *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006)).

Trial court decisions on the admissibility of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). A trial court does not abuse its discretion unless its decision "is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." *Id.* To admit expert testimony, the proponent must show that (1) the witness qualifies as an expert, (2) the opinion is based upon an explanatory theory generally accepted in the scientific community, and (3) the expert testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. ER 702; *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 715, 718 P.2d 407 (1986).

In the present case, Dr. Wigren was allowed to testify that Officer Westby's injury was inconsistent with a human bite. 1RP 166. Furthermore, Dr. Wigren was allowed to testify as to what information he relied upon in reaching this conclusion and was allowed to illustrate what a typical human bite mark looked like. 1RP 167–71.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding photographs of human bite marks. The court properly ruled that showing the jury these gruesome photographs of human bite marks would not help them in determining whether Mr. Cerda had assaulted Officer Westby. 1RP 180-182. It appears the court was also concerned that because the injuries in the photographs were so gruesome, they could improperly diminish the injury that was sustained in the present case (i.e., the severity of the injury was not an issue for the trier of fact). 1RP 181. Finally, the photographs used by Dr. Wigren were solely to assist in forming his opinion and had no direct relationship to the facts in Mr. Cerda's case.

Based on the gruesome nature of the photographs and their extremely attenuated connection to Mr. Cerda's case, the trial court properly excluded the photographs from evidence.

B. <u>The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Mr. Cerda's</u> motion for a mistrial because no error occurred.

Courts evaluate three factors to determine whether an error warrants a new trial: (1) the seriousness of the error, (2) whether the improper statement was cumulative of evidence properly admitted, and (3) whether the error could have been cured by an instruction. *State v. Perez-Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). Implicit in this analysis is that an error occurred.

In the present case, there was no error. The trial court found no error in admitting Officer Westby's testimony describing how Mr. Cerda looked. 1 RP 86-88. A lay witness may testify to matters that he has personal knowledge of and may state opinions that are rationally based on his perceptions. ER 602, 701. Specifically, testimony regarding another person's appearance or demeanor is normally admissible. *State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (holding that testimony from an officer that the alleged victim was "obviously traumatized" and that "something was terribly wrong" was proper).

Because the court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Officer Westby's testimony regarding the look Mr. Cerda gave him, no error occurred. Therefore, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr.

Cerda's motion for a mistrial. Even if the court finds an error occurred, it wasn't serious and could have easily been cured by an instruction.

C. <u>The peremptory challenge process did not violate Mr. Cerda's right to</u> <u>a public trial.</u>

Although, the Washington Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to public trial, this right is not violated unless it fails the "experience and logic" test. Const. art. I, § 22; *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

[T]he 'experience and logic' test requires courts to assess the necessity for closure by consideration of both history (experience) and the purposes of the open trial provision (logic)... The experience prong asks whether the practice in question historically has been open to the public, while the logic prong asks whether public access is significant to the functioning of the right. If both prongs are answered affirmatively, then the *Bone-Club* test must be applied before the court can close the courtroom.

State v. Love, 176 Wn. App. 911, 916, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013) (citing Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73).

Two recent cases address the right to a public trial in the context of peremptory challenges, and both of them hold in favor of the State. *Love*, 176 Wn. App. 911; *State v. Dunn*, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, No. 43855-1-II, 2014 Wn. App. Lexis 786 (April. 8, 2014) (holding that conducting peremptory challenges at the clerk's station do not violate the defendant's right to a public trial).

In *Love*, the court held that under the "experience and logic" test, the right to a public trial did not require peremptory challenges to take place in public. *Love* at 920. With respect to the experience prong, the court reasoned that there was "no evidence suggesting that historical practices required these challenges to be made in public." *Love* at 918. Similarly, in finding the defendant had not met the logic prong, the court reasoned that would be necessary to (1) ensure a fair trial, (2) remind the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, or (3) to encourage witnesses to come forward and testify truthfully. *Id.* at 919-20.

Because the peremptory challenge process does not need to take place in public (even though the entire process in the present case did occur in a public and open courtroom), Mr. Cerda's right to a public trial was not violated by passing a juror list between the parties to make the challenges.

D. <u>The court properly instructed the jury on the State's burden of proof</u> when it used WPIC 4.01.

The optional "abiding belief" language of WPIC 4.01 has been upheld as constitutional in several cases. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007); *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995); *State v. Lane*, 56 Wn. App. 286, 786 P.2d 277 (1989); *State v. Mabry*, 51 Wn. App. 24, 751 P.2d 882 (1988); *State v. Price*, 33 Wn. App. 472, 655 P.2d 1191 (1982). The U.S. Supreme Court has also upheld the use of the abiding-belief instruction. *See Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994).

Because the trial court used WPIC 4.01, which has been approved and upheld by the Washington Supreme Court, no error occurred.

E. <u>Mr. Cerda failed to demonstrate that he is entitled to a new trial for</u> <u>cumulative error because he has not shown that any prejudicial errors</u> <u>occurred.</u>

The cumulative error doctrine is reserved for "severe trial errors" that do not warrant a reversal alone, but deny the defendant a fair trial when combined. *State v. Greiff*, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000). When determining whether the errors denied defendant a fair trial, the court only considers prejudicial errors. *See State v. Stevens*, 58 Wn. App. 478, 498, 794 P.2d 38 (1990).

Mr. Cerda failed to demonstrate that any errors occurred, let alone prejudicial ones that constituted "severe trial errors." Therefore, this Court should deny his claim of cumulative error.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing analysis, no errors occurred that would warrant reversal. First, the trial court properly (1) excluded gruesome photographs that were not helpful to the jury, and (2) admitted Officer Westby's description of Mr. Cerda's stare. Second, Mr. Cerda's right to a public trial was not violated because the peremptory challenge process does not need to be conducted in public. And third, the court did not misstate the State's burden of proof because it used WPIC 4.01, which has been repeatedly upheld as constitutional. Because no errors were present warranting reversal, Mr. Cerda's convictions should be affirmed.